# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 03-633

FRANK A. WALLS,

APPELLANT,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HARRY P. BRODY FL. BAR NO. 0977860

BRODY AND HAZEN, PA 1804 MICCOSUKEE COMMONS DR. SUITE 200 POST OFFICE BOX 12999 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32317 850-942-0005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant appeals the lower court's denial of his Motion for Postconviction Relief prosecuted pursuant to Rule 3.850/3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Record references to the previous proceedings will be referred to as follows:

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The circuit court of the First Judicial Circuit, Okaloosa County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentences which are now under consideration before this Court.

On August 10, 1987, an Okaloosa County grand jury returned a ten-count indictment charging Frank Walls with two counts of first-degree murder and related offenses. (PR. 2)

After a jury trial, Mr. Walls was found guilty of felony murder for the death of Edward Alger and of premeditated and felony murder for the death of Ann Peterson. (PR. 1391-1393) Thereafter, the jury recommended a life sentence for the death of Mr. Alger and, by a seven to five vote, a death sentence for the murder of Ms. Peterson. (PR. 1572-1574)

The trial court followed the recommendations of the jury and sentenced Mr. Walls to life for the murder of Mr. Alger and to death for the murder of Ms. Peterson. (PR. 2116-2119)

On April 11, 1991, this Court vacated Mr. Walls' death sentence and remanded the case for a new trial. Walls v. State, 580 So. 2d 131 (Fla. 1991).

The state re-tried Mr. Walls on seven counts of the indictment. Upon re-trial, venue was changed to Jackson County because of pretrial publicity concerns.

On June 18, 1992, the jury sitting in Jackson County found Mr. Walls guilty of first-degree, felony murder for the death of Mr. Alger and of first-degree, felony murder and

premeditated murder for the death of Ms. Peterson. (R. 1127-1129)

A penalty phase was conducted for the purpose of securing a jury recommendation regarding sentencing for the death of Ms. Peterson, and, on June 19, 1992, the jury recommended a sentence of death. (R. 1120) Subsequently, the trial court sentenced Mr. Walls to life imprisonment for the death of Mr. Alger and to death for the murder of Ms. Peterson.

On July 7, 1994, this Court affirmed the trial court's sentences. Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994).

Thereafter, on January 23, 1995, the United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Walls' Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

Walls v. Florida, 513 U.S. 1130, 115 S. CT. 943, 139 L.Ed. 2d 87 (1995).

On March 17, 1997, Mr. Walls filed a "Motion To Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request For Leave To Amend." That Motion was amended on April 21, 1997, and "Defendant's Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence," which is the subject of the instant appeal, was filed on March 19, 2001. (PCR. 199)

On May 20, 2002, a hearing was held pursuant to the provisions of <u>Huff v State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993). (PCR. 312) Subsequently, on June 22, 2002, the lower court issued its "Order On Hearing Conducted Pursuant To *Huff v. State* And Rule 3.851, Florida Rules Of Criminal Procedure." (PCR. 312)

In its Order, the lower court granted Mr. Walls a hearing on Claim I(2), I(3), I(4), I(5), on Claim II's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, and on Claim III's allegations

of ineffective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase, except for the claims regarding the failure to present mitigating evidence, failure to call a pharmacologist to testify, failure to investigate "blood-spatter" expert's credentials, failure to call mental-health experts, and failure to retain an expert who could testify to the effects of Ritilin. (PCR. 313)

As to the expert on the effects of Ritilin, the court denied a hearing on this claim on the ground that Mr. Walls failed to establish prejudice but indicated that the court would reconsider if Mr. Walls' counsel presented established prejudice to the appellant.

The lower court also summarily denied Mr. Walls an evidentiary hearing on Claim IV (Ake v. Oklahoma) on the ground that it was procedurally barred, on Claim V (mental retardation) on the ground that Florida Statutes 921.137 (2002) does not apply retroactively, on Claim VI (sentencing court failed to independently weigh aggravating and mitigating circumstances) on the ground that it is procedurally barred, on Claim VII (victim impact evidence) on the ground that it is procedurally barred and is refuted by the record, on Claim VIII (unconstitutional instructions and comments and argument

thereon; no harmless error analysis) on the ground that it is procedurally barred, and on Claim IX (cumulative error), although the Order does not specify the ground for denying the claim, except as to the public records portion, regarding the cumulative effect of alleged errors and constitutional violations. (PCR. 312-314)

On July 19, 2002, Mr. Walls filed a "Motion For Leave To Conduct Medical Testing" on the ground that the court granted an evidentiary hearing on Claim III(C), in which Mr. Walls averred that trial counsel rendered deficient performance at trial in that counsel was aware that Mr. Walls suffered from brain damage but failed to have Mr. Walls' brain damage "medically diagnosed", as the court noted and emphasized in its sentencing order.

Mr. Walls contended that, in order to present evidentiary proof sufficient to sustain the averments of Claim III(C), he needed leave to have medical testing performed and that, without such opportunity to present the results of medical testing (a PET scan), an evidentiary hearing on his claim that counsel should have presented the results of such testing would be unfair. (PCR. 316-318)

The state filed an "Objection To Defendant (sic) Motion for Leave To Conduct Medical Testing," citing Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 2002) and Bottoson v. State, 813 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 2002) and contending that Mr. Walls had failed to establish a basis that said testing was necessary.

On October 11, 2002, Mr. Walls filed a "Supplement To Defendant's Motion to Vacate." (PCR. 349-360) This supplement, which presented to the court the report of Dr. Peter R. Breggin, was submitted in support of Mr. Walls' request for an evidentiary hearing on Claim III and pursuant to the court's indication that it would reconsider the claim regarding a Ritilin expert if counsel presented additional evidence or testimony to establish prejudice to the defendant. (PCR. 313)

On October 18, 2002, the state filed "State's Answer To Defendants (sic) Motion To Vacate." (PCR. 362-363)

Essentially, the state contended that Dr. Breggin's opinion would be cumulative and does not, in any case, contradict the trial testimony that defense counsel placed before the jury.

Finally, on January 6, 2003, the appellant filed a "Notice Of Filing," by which he presented to the court this Court's December 3, 2002 Order in <u>Burns v. State</u>, SC01-166, and <u>Adkins v. Virginia</u>, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002) as additional authority regarding the court's holding on Claim V of appellant's 3850 Motion (that the Florida mental retardation statute is not retroactive.)

On January 9, 2003, at the evidentiary hearing, the court heard argument on Mr. Walls' motion to present expert testimony (Dr. Breggin's) on the effects of Ritilin on Mr. Walls, on appellant's request to conduct medical testing, a PET scan, to establish prejudice on his claim that counsel

should have had an expert conduct medical testing to show the jury medical evidence of Mr. Walls' brain damage, and on appellant's claim that he is mentally retarded and that the Florida retardation statute, the Florida Constitution, and the U.S. Constitution under Adkins forbid the imposition of the death penalty in his case.

Ultimately, the court denied the Motion to present Dr. Breggin as an expert on the effects of Ritilin (PCR. 595-600) Further, the court denied the request to conduct a PET scan (PCR. 598-600; 723-724) to support the prejudice prong of Strickland's two-pronged ineffectiveness standard, and the court denied the appellant's claim regarding mental retardation on the ground that the Florida statute is not retroactive and that jury heard the issue and evidence of retardation apparently did not influence the death recommendation. (PCR. 6-12)

Further, on January 9, 2003, the lower court heard testimony at an evidentiary hearing consistent with its Order on the *Huff* hearing and subsequent rulings on outstanding motions. (PCR. 312-314)

Thereafter, on January 27, 2003, the lower court issued its "Order On Defendant's Second Amended Motion To Vacate Judgment of Conviction And Sentence," denying Mr. Walls relief. (PCR. 448-459)

# B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS: TESTIMONY

# Testimony of Attorney Loveless

At the evidentiary hearing, Earl D. Loveless, Chief Assistant Public Defender for the First Judicial Circuit, testified that he represented Mr. Walls at both of Mr. Walls' trials. (PCR. 603) He handled the guilt phase of both trials. (PCR. 604)

Mr. Loveless testified that there was no change in strategy between the first and second trials. (PCR. 605) The strategy employed was, he maintained, the only strategy available. <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Loveless testified that he talked to Mr. Walls about strategy but indicated that Mr. Walls did not always understand him. (PCR. 605-606) He based this opinion regarding Mr. Walls' level of comprehension on his experience and Mr. Walls' general demeanor. (PCR. 606)

Mr. Loveless did not, however, have any specific memories of speaking with Mr. Walls before trial, except for one instance in 1987, which did not involve strategy. (PCR. 607) Mr. Loveless had, he said, "overall memory" of discussions with Mr. Walls "about the case, about the facts of the case, about what the evidence was going to be...." (PCR. 607)

As to the second trial, Mr. Loveless would have had a discussion with Mr. Walls about the evidence that was going to be presented, but he would not have reviewed his opening statement with Mr. Walls. (PCR. 608) Mr. Walls would not have heard his opening or closing statements before they were made to the jury. (PCR. 608-609)

Initially, Mr. Loveless did not recall that Mr. Walls was very responsive during the second trial. (PCR. 609) Sometimes he thought Mr. Walls understood him and other times he felt Mr. Walls didn't. (PCR. 609-610) Mr. Loveless was concerned about Mr. Walls' competence. (PCR. 610)

Regarding the issue of sexual battery, Mr. Loveless did remember that, prior to the first trial, the state had conceded that there was no evidence of sexual battery and that "it" was not going to come in to evidence. (PCR. 610)

He did remember but did not dispute the authenticity of a July 1, 1988 letter (PCR. 410-411; Def. Ex. 1) to him from the prosecutor in the first trial, Drew Pinkerton ("the Pinkerton letter"), regarding the inadmissibility of questions concerning "Gygi murder" and an old rape investigation (PCR. 410-411).

It was Mr. Loveless's understanding that there was going to be no evidence of sexual battery in the case. (PCR. 611)

Mr. Loveless explained that the defense did not seek to redact the portion of law enforcement's taped statement of Mr. Walls in which the police ask numerous questions about and make numerous references to a sexual battery on Ms. Peterson (R. 668-689) by Mr. Walls because "I simply felt it was better to give the impression to the jury that we weren't trying to hide anything... and that Frank, during his discussions, was being truthful..." (PCR. 611)

Mr. Loveless maintained that there was no evidence that a sexual battery or rape was either intended or was actually completed. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Loveless further testified that the defense did not move to redact questions from the tape by the interrogators such as, you raped her, Frank, didn't you?..., because Mr. Loveless was convinced that the jury would see clearly that there was no rape planned or rape or sexual battery which actually occurred. (PCR. 613)

Mr. Loveless also recalled that investigator Vinson asked Mr. Walls on the tape that was played to the jury: "did you ever see-- peep in, see them nude that you can remember? Did you ever peep in and see them making love or having sex or whatever they do? Okay, you're shaking your head no." (R. 680; PCR. 614) Vinson continued: You knew these people, didn't you? Had you ever seen them before? Had you seen them making love from Animal's trailer? Had you ever peeked in their window?

Loveless didn't believe he objected to these questions (PCR. 615)

Mr. Loveless did, however, state that he would have filed a pretrial motion to keep the statements out of evidence rather than objecting at trial. Id. He admitted that he knew the contents of the tape and conceded that, as a general matter, he would not want the jury to hear evidence of a crime which his client was not charged with. (PCR. 616)

Despite his comments that he generally wouldn't want the jury to hear about a sexual battery which his was not charged with, Mr. Loveless contended that the fact that investigator Vinson asked Mr. Walls whether he had sex with that girl would not be "a problem" as long as Mr. Walls denied having sex with her.

Apparently Mr. Loveless considered that Mr. Walls' response- I can't tell you, I don't know- was a denial (PCR. 617) Regardless, Mr. Loveless felt like the "overall tone" constituted a denial by Mr. Walls that Mr. Walls committed sexual battery. <u>Id</u>.

Asked to explain why he did not challenge other sexual battery language placed before the jury, Mr. Loveless initially stated that he had no strategy reasons for not objecting to technician Julios Borio's testimony that he used a "sexual battery kit" in the investigation. (PCR. 617)

Basically, Mr. Loveless explained, he lets an investigator say what he did in the investigation. (PCR. 617-618) Further, he felt that the sexual battery statements were acceptable because evidence was going to come in that a sexual battery never occurred.

Mr. Loveless was nonplused by the fact that, prior to either trial, one investigator, Robbie Hughes, had testified in his deposition that he thought a sexual battery had, in fact, occurred. (PCR. 618; 621-622)

However, despite Hughes' unambiguous deposition testimony

that he believed a sexual battery had occurred, Mr. Loveless speculated that the evidence was clear to both sides at the time of both trials that "no sexual battery ever occurred." (PCR. 619) In sum, Mr. Loveless concurred that the defense knew about the sexual battery issue, but contended that Mr. Walls' counsel did nothing to keep the issue from the jury because the defense did not want the jurors to feel like counsel was keeping anything from them. (PCR. 619-623)

Mr. Loveless could not recall if he objected to any of the prosecutor's closing argument in the guilt-phase of the trial. (PCR. 624-625) Nor did he initially remember a specific defense trial strategy except to say that "the strategy for the trial was to save Mr. Walls' life." (PCR. 625)

He did not recall not objecting to the prosecutor's comments on Mr. Walls' lack of remorse or on the contention that Mr. Walls would have killed witness Amy Touchton had he known she was there. (PCR. 623-624)

Mr. Loveless also did not recall whether or not he had a strategy regarding objecting to, or not objecting to, the prosecutor's arguments on Mr. Walls' alleged lack of remorse or speculative witness-elimination. (PCR. 624)

Discussing his concessions of felony murder and aggravating circumstances in theopening statement, Mr.

Loveless testified that the defense did not perceive any defense that would have resulted Mr. Walls being acquitted.

Mr. Loveless did not dispute that he conceded Mr. Walls' guilt of some charges in the opening statement. (PCR. 625)

Regarding the fact that one of the charges Mr. Loveless conceded was the charge of felony murder, he admitted that he told the jury in opening that Mr. Walls committed a burglary and that, as a result of the burglary, two people died. <u>Id</u>.

He recognized that he was, in effect, conceding guilt on first-degree felony murder and was, in fact, not contesting the charge of felony murder or holding the state to its probative burdens. (PCR. 625-626) Mr. Loveless also knew that he was

conceding at least two aggravating factors for penalty-phase consideration. (PCR. 627)

Mr. Loveless did not have a specific recollection at the time of the evidentiary hearing of when he discussed the opening statement concessions with his client, but he was certain that he discussed the concession of guilt and of aggravating circumstances with Mr. Walls, although he didn't know if Mr. Walls understood him or not. (PCR. 626)

Initially, Mr. Loveless did not have a specific recollection of Mr. Walls actually agreeing to the concession of felony murder and aggravating circumstances (PCR. 631)

Moreover, Mr. Loveless admitted that, after making the concessions, he had no strategy for holding the prosecution to its burden of proof regarding the felony-murder charge. (PCR. 627-628)

On the issue of medical testing, Mr. Loveless stated that, at the time of trial in 1992, he was well schooled in the technology and evidentiary use of the PET scan and that he knew where a PET scan could have been performed and who could have performed such a medical test. (PCR. 629)

A PET scan, testified Mr. Loveless, was a medical test available to him at the time of trial. <u>Id</u>. Further, Mr. Loveless was cognizant of the fact that Mr. Walls had been diagnosed with indications of brain damage and mental retardation. (PCR. 629-630)

Mr. Loveless testified that, based on statements made to him by psychologists Larson and Hagerott, he simply elected not to have a PET scan done. (PCR. 630) Further, although he was using the guilt phase "to save Frank's life," as he characterized the defense's strategy, he did not see a way to use the testimony of medical experts in the guilt-phase of the trial. (PCR. 630)

Consistent with his knowledge of the PET scan and his "strategy" to use the guilt-phase to save Mr. Walls' life, Mr. Loveless acknowledged that, if a PET scan had shown brain damage, that evidence could have been utilized at trial to rebut the prosecutor's argument (and the court's finding) that psychologists don't really understand, from a medical perspective, the workings of the brain. (PCR. 631)

Regarding his strategy considerations, Mr. Loveless stated that he believed there was a possible self-defense argument available to Mr. Walls regarding the death of Mr. Alger. (PCR. 661) He acknowledged, of course, that this defense would be very hard to convincingly establish and was not a good defense in this case. (PCR. 661-662)

Mr. Loveless also understood that in every case a viable defense is to hold the state to its burdens of proof. (PCR. 662)

After lunch, Mr. Loveless reversed himself and testified that Mr. Walls was more active in the second trial than in the

first trial because of medication and "things like that," although he dis not recall whether or not Mr. Walls was, in fact, on medication at either trial. (PCR. 663)

Before the first trial, Mr. Loveless stated that he discussed the insanity defense with Mr. Walls, but suggested that the defense may not have "gone back to it" for the second trial as it was not viable. (PCR. 663)

It was part of his strategy, according to Mr. Loveless, to establish the two statutory mental-health mitigating factors, but he indicated that, as a general matter, it is very difficult to obtain medical testimony in support of the statutory mitigators so, again speaking generally, he said that he tries to establish the non-statutory mitigation of disturbance when, for example, he cannot establish extreme emotional disturbance required by the language of the statute. (PCR. 664)

Mr. Loveless doubted that, in Mr. Walls' case, he had obtained evidence to support the applicability of the statutory mental-health mitigators, because, according to Mr. Loveless, doctors do not normally provide that testimony.

(PCR. 665)

Again discussing the strategy of Mr. Walls' trial counsel, Mr. Loveless initially agreed that the defense did not have a specific strategy to let evidence of sexual battery be admitted into evidence and then to argue to the jury that a sexual battery didn't occur. (PCR. 666)

Rather, he stated, he was probably aware that evidence of a sexual battery investigation was coming into evidence but, considering the way the case was going and what was going to be explained to the jury, determined that it was better to let the jury know what the scope of the investigation actually was "because it's going to be clear that it (sexual battery) didn't occur." (PCR. 666)

Mr. Loveless did acknowledge that, if the defense doesn't make a motion in limine and the jury hears a piece of evidence and is then instructed to disregard it, the result, from a defense stand-point, is not as good as the result the defense obtains by preventing the jury from hearing the piece of evidence in the first place. (PCR. 667)

Mr. Loveless contended that only statements of the investigation of sexual battery came into evidence and distinguished that situation from the situation when evidence of actual sexual battery is being admitted into evidence.

(PCR. 667-668)

Nevertheless, he had no recollection of ever discussing that distinction with Mr. Walls except that, possibly, Mr. Loveless said to Mr. Walls something to the effect that the evidence was going to be that it, the sexual battery, didn't happen. (PCR. 667-668)

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