FRANK A. WALLS,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC03-633

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLEE

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

-12-

LEAD COUNSEL'S PRIOR EXPERIENCE

At the evidentiary hearing, lead counsel Mr. Loveless testified that by 1992, the time of the second trial of this case, he had tried 8 to 10 capital cases. (PCR IV 633). He had also been indirectly involved in several hundred capital cases. (PCR IV 634). He is qualified by the Florida Supreme Court to handle capital cases. (PCR IV 634). The jury recommendation in the first trial was life for the Alger murder and 7 to 5 for death for the Peterson murder. (PCR IV 634). Counsel was one vote away from a life recommendation in the Peterson murder. (PCR IV 635).

EVIDENCE OF THE RAPE KIT

Walls first argues his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make a motion in limine to exclude references to the possible sexual battery of the murder victim and for failing to object to testimony relating to the possible sexual battery. Trial counsel was not ineffective. As the trial court found, this was part of the trial strategy. Furthermore, there was no prejudice. It was clear to the jury that no rape occurred. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

The trial court's ruling

The trial court ruled:

As to the claim that defense counsel was deficient for failing to object to Jules Borio's testimony regarding a sexual battery kit used for the purpose of excluding the defendant as a contributor of blood on pieces of evidence, the trial transcript clearly demonstrates that it was made clear to the jury and the jury was well aware that pieces from the kit were used to take samples from the defendant to exclude him as a blood contributor on evidence; thus, the jury was aware of the purpose of the kit and they could not have inferred from the testimony that the defendant had committed an uncharged sexual battery.² As counsel testified during the evidentiary hearing, the jury was well aware of the purpose of the collection of samples from the defendant; thus, the failure to object to Jules Borio's testimony did not

² Testimony of Lonnie Ginsberg, FDLE forensic serologist, Record on Appeal, Vol. IV, P. 622-623, attached hereto as Exhibit "A", and Vol. IV, P. 629-630, attached hereto as Exhibit "B"; testimony of Dr. Edmund R Kielman, Record on Appeal, Vol. IV, P. 578, attached hereto as Exhibit "C"; testimony of Don Vinson, Record on Appeal, Vol. III, P. 486, attached hereto as Exhibit "D"; testimony of Jules Borio, Record on Appeal, Vol. III, P. 407, attached hereto as Exhibit "E"; and testimony of Larry Donaldson, Record on Appeal, Vol. III P. 495, attached hereto as Exhibit "F."

constitute deficient performance by defendant's trial counsel.

Likewise, trial counsel's failure to object to the defendant's taped statement or file a motion in limine concerning the statement was not deficient performance. The Court is satisfied that Mr. Loveless and Mr. Sewell chose not to move for a pre-trial motion in Limine or object at trial to the questions regarding a possible sexual battery for tactical reasons. Mr. Loveless and Mr. Sewell testified that they had developed a trial strategy which was to save the defendant's life. The taped confession of the defendant demonstrated their theory of defense, which was that the defendant did not break into the trailer for the purpose of killing the victims instead it was a "burglary gone bad."³ During the confession, the defendant's confusion over whether or not a sexual battery had occurred, when it was made clear to the jury that a sexual battery had not in fact occurred, and the defendant's emotional distress demonstrated the defense's theory. As Mr. Sewell testified, the sexual battery questions posed during the defendant's confession were not an issue because there was never a question or an issue as to whether a rape occurred. Also, Mr. Sewell testified that the confession made by the defendant was a large part of the guilt and penalty phase strategy. The portion of the statement wherein the defendant is questioned regarding a potential sexual battery demonstrates that the defendant became confused, upset, emotional and remorseful. Mr. Sewell testified that he believed that the statement in its entirety showed remorse, confusion, and bolstered the defense theory that this was a "burglary gone awry." Furthermore, both Mr. Loveless and Mr. Sewell testified that their defense was very limited due to the confession and the physical evidence; thus, their only choice was to try to save the defendant's life through showing that the murders were not cold, calculated and planned. The taped statement of the defendant was played for the jury and during cross examination by Mr. Loveless testimony was elicited that the defendant was teary eyed and upset during the statement.⁴ The decision to not object was not deficient performance but in fact a well reasoned tactical decision based on their years of experience. As to the decision not to file a motion in limine, as discussed above Mr. Loveless and Mr. Sewell both stated that they believed that the statement in its entirety helped prove the defense theory of the case; thus, they

³ Taped confession of the defendant, Record on Appeal, Vol. IV, P. 660-694; attached hereto as Exhibit "G."

⁴ Trial testimony of witness Don Vinson, Record on Appeal, Vol. IV, P. 660-694, attached as exhibit "G".

did not file the motion. The defendant is now alleging that a letter from the Office of the State Attorney dated July 1, 1988 should have made Mr. Loveless aware of rape being an issue in the trial and Mr. Loveless should have reacted to the letter by filing a motion in limine to keep out all references of a possible sexual battery on Ann Peterson. However, a sexual battery charge was never filed against the defendant and it was not an issue in this In fact, the letter itself referred to redacting trial. inadmissible questions concerning the Gygi murder and an old rape investigation. The Court is satisfied that not reacting to this letter received by Mr. Loveless did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Again, the defendant's trial counsel developed and adhered to a well reasoned trial strategy and dealt with the statement made by the defendant in a manner consistent with their strategy. The defendant has failed to established established ineffective assistance of counsel.

(PCR III 451-453)(footnotes included but renumbered).

<u>Trial</u>

At trial, an evidence custodian with the Okaloosa Sheriff's office, Jules Borio, identified a number of photographs of the crime scene. (III 377-399). He also identified numerous other items of evidence. (III 402-409). One of the items referred to was a sexual battery kit. (III 407). At trial, the tape of Walls' confession was played for the jury. (IV 667-690). During the confession, Walls admitted that he ripped Ann's shirt off her. (IV 674). The officer asked Walls: when did you have sex with her? (IV 675). Walls responded: "I don't even know if I did that or not". Officer Vinson then asked Walls to think about it very, very carefully because she was a good looking woman who was now nude. Walls again answered that "I don't even know if I did that or not" and "[i]t could have been, I don't know." Officer Vinson then asked if Walls he had had sex with her would it be anal or vaginal sex and Walls responded that "I don't get into no anal sex." (IV 676). Officer Vinson then observed that

-16-

it would be vaginal and "more than likely" but he did not think that he had sex with her. Officer Vinson asked Walls if he went into the trailer for money or sex and Walls answered to get something and that he was flat broke. (IV 681-682).

Evidentiary hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, lead counsel, Chief APD Loveless, testified that the State had conceded that there was no evidentiary of sexual battery in this case. (PCR IV 610). He did not try to redact the portion of the defendant's taped confession where the officers ask Walls if he raped the victim because it would become clear to the jury during the trial that there was no sexual battery. (PCR IV 611). Collateral counsel questioned lead counsel about a letter from the prosecutor referring to another murder and old rape investigation but collateral counsel admitted that no such evidence was admitted at trial. (PCR IV 613). Counsel felt that the officer asking the rape question was not a problem provided the answer came in as well because it increased his client's credibility. (PCR IV 617). The evidence was clear to both sides at both trial that no sexual battery ever occurred. (PCR IV 619). In his opinion, the jury never considered it an issue. (PCR IV 620). He testified that it was a strategic decision not to object or make a motion in limine to redact that portion of the tape. (PCR IV 620). It was clear that the rape kit was used for blood testing. (PCR IV 648-649). The trial court asked a numerous of questions

-17-

regarding the prosecutor's letter. The trial court did not see the relevancy of the letter. (PCR IV 670-677).

Co-counsel, Assistant Public Defense, James Sewell, also testified. (PCR IV 681). Their theory was burglary gone awry and the tape showed Walls' remorse. (PCR IV 684). The rape was not an issue because there was no question that Walls had not committed sexual battery. (PCR IV 685). Walls was "sobbing, crying, remorseful and repentant" on the tape. (PCR IV 685). They wanted the whole tape in as part of their strategy. (PCR IV 688). It was clear to the jury that there was no sexual battery. (PCR IV 690).

It was not an issue at trial (PCR IV 703).

<u>Merits</u>

Counsel made the reasonable decision to use the entire tape of the defendant's confession as a basis for his burglary gone bad defense argument and to establish remorse as mitigation in closing of penalty rather than object. (VI 1003). Having the defendant deny the rape and then establishing that in fact no rape occurred increase his client's credibility. Furthermore, there is no prejudice because the State never implied that a rape had occurred nor disputed counsel's assertion that there was no rape. The trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

-18-

REMORSE

Walls asserts that his attorney should have objected to the prosecutor's lack of remorse argument. IB at 32. The prosecutor's comment was fair rebuttal. While the prosecutor may not use lack of remorse as an aggravator, the prosecutor may rebut defense counsel's argument attempting to establish remorse as a mitigator. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

The trial court's ruling

Claim I also alleges ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to comments made during the prosecutor's closing arguments regarding the defendant's lack of remorse and the implication that Amy Touchton would have been killed by the defendant if she had become a witness.⁵ As to the allegation that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial comments, regarding the defendant's lack of remorse, this arguinent was an invited response based on defense counsel's closing argument wherein trial counsel argued that the defendant was sobbing on the taped confession which demonstrated that the defendant's actions were not premeditated murder.⁶ As an invited response, it was not improper argument by the prosecutor nor was it deficient performance for failing to object to the argument.

As to the allegation that trial counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's implication that the defendant would have killed Amy Touchton if she had become a witness, defendant's trial counsel testified that they tried to maintain a "low-key" defense and made decisions not to overly object. Further, Mr. Loveless testified that he did not believe that this comment by the prosecutor hurt their defense. It is not ineffective assistance of counsel to conduct a low-key defense and it is a tactical decision to choose not to object to

⁵ These allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are subsections (4) and (5) of Claim I in the *Huff* hearing Order.

⁶ Record on Appeal, Vol. V, P.727, attached hereto as Exhibit "H."

objectionable closing arguments.⁷ However, even if the failure to object to the prosecutor's comment was deficient performance, the defendant has failed to establish that he was prejudiced by the failure.

(PCR III 453-454) (footnotes included but renumbered).

<u>Trial</u>

During closing argument of the guilt phase, defense counsel argued that Walls was not a cold-blooded killer; rather, he was a caring person who showed his remorse by crying on his taped confession and who admitted his guilt. (T. V 727). The prosecutor responded by arguing Walls did not express his sorrow when he first encountered the officers; rather it was only after he knew he'd been caught that he started making statements. (T. V 730-731). The prosecutor also responded that Walls "did not care about those victims" and Walls "never once said he was sorry about them." (T. V 734). The prosecutor also rebutted defense counsel's argument by pointing out that Walls' statement that "this ruined my whole life" expressed concerned regarding himself, not concern regarding the victims. (T. V 731). The prosecutor opined that if Walls was a caring person why didn't he say to himself that this has gotten out of hand and once he realized the first victim was hurt and that Walls should have called an ambulance. (T. V. 733). Defense counsel responded by arguing that Walls gave the statement freely not because of the evidence against him. (T. V. 735).

⁷ Ferguson v. State, 593 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1992)

Evidentiary hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, Lead counsel, Chief APD Loveless testified that (PCR IV 611). He testified that and the prosecutor argued whether Walls was a cold blooded killer or remorseful. (PCR IV 653). Co-counsel, Assistant Public Defense, James Sewell, testified that lack of remorse was not an aggravator but that remorse was a mitigator. (PCR IV 691). Remorse was a big part of their case. (PCR IV 704).

<u>Merits</u>

Lack of remorse is not an aggravating factor. Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 46 (Fla. 1991)(noting that lack of remorse is not a statutory aggravating factor citing Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla.1988)). However, remorse is a non-statutory mitigating circumstance. Beasley v. State, 774 So.2d 649, 672 (Fla. 2000)(explaining that mere sorrow, rather than true remorse, is not a mitigating factor citing Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla.1988) and Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1078 (Fla.1983)). A prosecutor is entitled to rebut defense counsel's arguments. Walton v. State, 547 So. 2d 622, 625 (Fla. 1989)(explaining that, while lack of remorse may not be introduced by the State because it amounts to non-statutory aggravator, lack of remorse may be presented by the State to rebut mitigating evidence of remorse and finding no error where defense counsel opened the door to the remorse evidence).

This exchange was fair response. The prosecutor was simply rebutting defense counsel's assertion that his client regretted

-21-

the murders and admitted his guilt. Defense counsel's performance was not deficient for failing to make an baseless objection. Defense counsel merely recognized fair rebuttal argument when he heard it. Sorey v. State, 463 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)(rejecting an ineffectiveness claim for failing to object to the prosecutor's closing argument because the prosecutor's statement constituted a fair response to defense counsel's comments).

Furthermore, there is no prejudice. Even if defense counsel had objected and preserved the claim and the prosecutor's statements are not viewed as fair reply, the error would have been found to be harmless. *Shellito v. State*, 701 So.2d 837, 842 (Fla.1997)(determining that prosecutor's "brief" reference to the defendant's lack of remorse was of minor consequence and constituted harmless error"); *Kokal v. Dugger*, 718 So.2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998)(rejecting an ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to raise prosecutor's reference to lack of remorse because it was a one-word reference in a lengthy and otherwise proper closing argument); *Valle v. State*, 581 So.2d 40, 46 (Fla. 1991)(prosecutor's lack of remorse argument was harmless error due to the minimal amount of mitigating evidence).

-22-

NIXON ISSUE

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